

The global nonlinear stability of self-gravitating irrotational Chaplygin Fluids in a FRW geometry

Philippe G. LeFloch, Changhua Wei

▶ To cite this version:

Philippe G. LeFloch, Changhua Wei. The global nonlinear stability of self-gravitating irrotational Chaplygin Fluids in a FRW geometry. 2015. hal-01248541

HAL Id: hal-01248541 https://hal.science/hal-01248541

Preprint submitted on 27 Dec 2015

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

The Global Nonlinear Stability of Self-Gravitating Irrotational Chaplygin Fluids in a FRW Geometry

Philippe G. LeFLOCH* and Changhua WEI[†]

Abstract

We analyze the global nonlinear stability of FRW (Friedmann-Robertson-Walker) spacetimes in presence of an irrotational perfect fluid. We assume that the fluid is governed by the so-called (generalized) Chaplygin equation of state $p=-\frac{A^2}{\rho^\alpha}$ relating the pressure to the mass-energy density, in which A>0 and $\alpha\in(0,1]$ are constant. We express the Einstein equations in wave gauge as a systems of coupled nonlinear wave equations and by performing a suitable conformal transformation, we are able to analyze the global behavior of solutions in future timelike directions. We establish that the (3+1)-spacetime metric and the mass density and velocity vector describing the evolution of the fluid remain globally close to a reference FRW solution, under small initial data perturbations. Our analysis provides also the precise asymptotic behavior of the perturbed solutions in the future directions.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction	-
	1.1	Main objective	
	1.2	Background on the problem	
	1.3	Nonlinear stability property in wave coordinates	
2	For	mulation of the problem	(
	2.1	Notation	(
	2.2	Stress energy tensor for irrotational fluids	(
	2.3	The class of Friedmann-Robertson-Walker spacetimes	
3	Pro	of of the nonlinear stability property	1
	3.1	The wave gauge	1
		The reduced conformal Einstein equations	
	3.3	The conformal fluid evolution	
	3.4	A key argument for the source terms	
	3.5	A class of symmetric hyperbolic systems	
	3.6	Completion of the proof of the main result	

1 Introduction

1.1 Main objective

Recent cosmological observations predict that our Universe is currently enjoying a phase of accelerated expansion, which could be described for instance by introducing the notion of dark energy. An analysis

^{*}Laboratoire Jacques-Louis Lions & Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Université Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris 6), 4 Place Jussieu, 75252 Paris, France. Email: contact@philippelefloch.org

[†]School of Mathematical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, 200433, China. Email: changhuawei1986@gmail.com. Key words and phrases: FRW cosmology; generalized Chaplygin gas; conformal transformation; wave coordinates.

based on the Big Bang model reveals that our Universe is spatially flat and consists of 70 percents of dark energy (with negative pressure), while the remaining 30 percents consist of dust matter (i.e. cold dark matter plus baryons), as well as negligible radiation. It has been predicted that the dark energy may be responsible for the present acceleration of our Universe. These predictions from physics rely on several possible theories of dark energy. One possibility is to include a cosmological constant in the Einstein equations, while another quite interesting approach models the matter content as a Chaplygin gas or, more generally a generalized Chaplygin gas (GCG) or a modified Chaplygin gas (MCG). In the past decade, these models have been studied extensively by elementary methods of analysis and via numerical simulations. For a more detailed description of these models, we refer to [1–3, 6, 8–10, 16, 22] and the references therein.

In this paper, we consider the nonlinear future stability of self-gravitating fluids governed by the (generalized) Chaplygin equation of state and, therefore, analyze the global existence problem for the Einstein-Euler system.

Definition 1.1. A **generalized Chaplygin gas,** by definition, is a perfect fluid governed by the equation of state

$$p = -\frac{A^2}{\rho^{\alpha}},\tag{1.1}$$

relating the pressure $p = p(\rho)$ to the mass-energy density $\rho \ge 0$ of this fluid, where A is a positive constant and $\alpha \in (0,1]$. This is known as a **Chaplygin gas** when $\alpha = 1$.

The Einstein-Euler system for a generalized Chaplygin gas read as follows:

$$\widetilde{G}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu},$$

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0,$$

$$(1.2)$$

where $\widetilde{G}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{R}ic^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{R}\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu}$ is Einstein's curvature tensor of an unknown metric $\widetilde{g} = \widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$, while $\widetilde{R}ic_{\mu\nu}$ and \widetilde{R} are the Ricci and scalar curvature of \widetilde{g} , respectively, and $\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}$ denotes the covariant derivative of \widetilde{g} . Here, $\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}$ denotes the stress energy tensor

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)\widetilde{u}^{\mu}\widetilde{u}^{\nu} + p\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \tag{1.3}$$

where ρ denotes the energy density, $p = p(\rho)$ denotes the pressure and is given by (1.1), $\tilde{u} = (\tilde{u}^0, \dots, \tilde{u}^3)$ denotes the unit, future-directed, timelike 4-velocity, $\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}$ is the inverse of $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$. As is standard, we use Einstein's summation convention, i.e. we sum over repeated lower and upper indices.

We are interested in irrotational full fluids, namely, under the equation of state (1.1), fluid such that there exists a potential function Ψ allowing us to express the stress energy tensor in form

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)\widetilde{u}^{\mu}\widetilde{u}^{\nu} + p\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu}
= A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \left[\frac{\widetilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I-\widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - (I-\widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \right],$$
(1.4)

where I is a constant depending only on the initial data of the state variables and $\widetilde{h} = -\widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi \geq$ 0. The derivation of (1.4) from (1.1) will be presented in Section 2.2, below.

It is well-known that there exists a particular family of solutions to (1.2), that is, the Friedmann-Robertson-Walker cosmological spacetimes, and our main result in the present work can be simply described as follows.

Theorem 1.2 (The nonlinear future stability of Friedmann-Robertson-Walker spacetimes. Preliminary version). The FRW solutions to the Einstein-Euler system for a generalized Chaplygin gas are nonlinearly stable toward the future, when the initial data set prescribed on an initial hypersurface is a small perturbation of this FRW solution.

A more technical version of the above theorem will be provided below after we will introduce some necessary notations. At this junction, we want to recall some earlier work on the Einstein-Euler system, especially for the expanding spacetimes of interest in the present work.

1.2 Background on the problem

One natural problem one may ask is whether or not our universe dominated by above models is stable. Due to the importance of this problem in mathematics and physics, it attracts a lot of attention in general relativity and great improvements have been made on the Einstein-Euler equations with positive cosmological constant in recent years. We will describe these improvements clearly below. While we still know nothing on the future nonlinear stability of our universe dominated by Chaplygin gas (or GCG, MCG) in 1+3 spacetime dimensions, that is one motivation for us to study this problem.

The Einstein-Euler equations with positive cosmological constant read

$$\widetilde{G}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} - \Lambda \widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu},
\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0,$$
(1.5)

where $\Lambda > 0$ denotes the positive cosmological constant. One advance for equation (1.5) with metric (??) and stress energy tensor (1.3) is focused on the fluid with equation of state

$$p = C_s^2 \rho, \tag{1.6}$$

where $C_s \ge 0$ denotes the speed of sound. When $C_s = 0$, it is called the dust universe, and when $C_s = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$, it is used to describe the radiation universe.

There are mainly two approaches to deal with the Einstein-Euler system (1.5) mathematically: working with the given spacetime metric, or alternatively working with a conformally equivalent metric. Both approaches play an important role in the mathematical theory of general relativity. The well-known family of Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) solutions to (1.5) represents a homogeneous, fluid filled universe that is undergoing accelerated expansion. Rodnianski and Speck [19] established the future global stability of a class of FLRW solutions under the assumption of zero vorticity and $0 < C_s < \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$. The so-called wave gauge approach in [19] was first used by Ringström in [18] who treated scalar fields without positive cosmological constant: $\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = \tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi \left[\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi+V(\Psi)\right]\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu}$. The presence of $V(\Psi)$ plays an analogue role as Λ , under the assumption that V(0) > 0, V'(0) = 0, V''(0) > 0. The main observation in these papers is two-fold: on one hand, the Einstein-nonlinear scalar field system can be formulated as a system of nonlinear wave equations provided one introduces generalized wave coordinates, inspired by the standard wave coordinates used earlier (for instance in Lindblad and Rodnianski [13] for the vacuum case, revisited recently in LeFloch and Ma [11]); on the other hand, the problem under consideration describes the expansion of the universe, and the expansion provides one dispersive terms, which leads to exponential decay for solutions. Later, Speck (and collaborator) [7, 20] proved that above nonlinear stability result remains true even for a fluid with non-vanishing vorticity when $0 \le C_s < \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$. When $C_s = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$, Lübbe and Valiente Kroon [14] have shown the desired stability property by relying on Friedrich's conformal method [4, 5] —an approach entirely different from the method in [7, 19, 20]. More recently, a very efficient method was proposed by Oliynyk [15], which combine the conformal method with wave coordinates in order to handle the case $0 < C_s \le \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$ with non-vanishing vorticity. One advantage of the latter method is that, under a conformal transformation, the whole Einstein-Euler system can be turned into a symmetric hyperbolic system (with singular terms) and solutions defined on finite interval of time. The singular terms enjoy good positivity properties and, by a standard energy estimate, one can then get the global nonlinear stability of a family of FLRW solutions and established the asymptotic behavior of perturbed solutions in the far future. Finally, we recall that, in the regime $C_s > \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}}$, Rendall [17] has found some evidence for instability.

1.3 Nonlinear stability property in wave coordinates

We thus study the Einstein-Euler system (1.2) with the stress energy tensor (1.4). In order to describe our ideas and main results clearly, we must fix our notations at first. The spacetime that we consider are of the form $(0,1] \times \mathbb{T}^3$. For the coordinates, we use x^i (i=1,2,3) to denote the spacial coordinates and use $x^0 = \tau$ to denote the time coordinate. We always use the Greek indices to denote the spacetime coordinates that run form 0 to 3 and Latin indices to denote the spacial coordinates that run from 1 to 3. In this system of coordinates, when we say the fluid velocity is future directed, we mean that

$$\tilde{u}^0 < 0. \tag{1.7}$$

As Oliynyk in [15], we do not consider the original metric \tilde{g} directly, but instead consider the conformally transformed metric

$$g_{\mu\nu} = e^{-2\Phi} \widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}, \quad \text{or} \quad g^{\mu\nu} = e^{2\Phi} \widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu},$$
 (1.8)

where

$$\Phi = -\ln(\tau). \tag{1.9}$$

Under the conformal transformation (1.8) and (1.9), the equations (1.2) that we consider in this paper is the following Cauchy problem

$$G^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu} := e^{4\Phi} \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} + 2(\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi - \nabla^{\mu}\Phi\nabla^{\nu}\Phi) - (2\Box_{g}\Phi + |\nabla\Phi|_{g}^{2})g^{\mu\nu},$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = -6\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\Phi + g_{\kappa\lambda}\widetilde{T}^{\kappa\lambda}g^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\Phi,$$

$$g^{\mu\nu}|_{\tau=1} = g_{0}^{\mu\nu}(x), \quad \partial_{\tau}g^{\mu\nu}|_{\tau=1} = g_{1}^{\mu\nu}(x), \quad \partial_{\mu}\Psi|_{\tau=1} = m_{\mu}(x).$$
(1.10)

Remark 1.3. Above initial data set $(g_0^{\mu\nu}(x), g_1^{\mu\nu}(x), m_{\mu}(x))$ can not be chosen arbitrarily. They must satisfy the Gauss-Codazzi equations, which are equivalent to $(G^{\mu 0} - T^{\mu 0})|_{\tau=1} = 0$. Furthermore, they will also satisfy the wave coordinates condition $Z^{\mu}|_{\tau=1} = 0$, the precise definition of Z^{μ} can be found in Section 3.1.

We know that there exist a family of FRW solutions $(\widetilde{\eta}, \overline{\Psi}(\tau))$ to the original Einstein-Euler equations of GCG (1.2). $\widetilde{\eta}$ takes the following form

$$\widetilde{\eta} = \frac{1}{\tau^2} \left(-\frac{1}{w^2(\tau)} d\tau^2 + \sum_{i=1}^3 (dx^i)^2 \right),$$

where

$$\tau = \frac{1}{a(t)}, \quad w = \frac{1}{a(t)} \frac{da(t)}{dt} := \frac{\dot{a}(t)}{a(t)},$$

for some scale factor a(t) with $t \in [0, +\infty)$. Under conformal transformation, the conformal metric g can be seen as small perturbations to the conformal background metric η which is given by

$$\eta = -\frac{1}{w^2}d\tau^2 + \sum_{i=1}^3 (dx^i)^2.$$

Define the densitized three-metric $\mathbf{g}^{ij} = det(\check{g}_{lm})^{\frac{1}{3}}g^{ij}$, where $\check{g}_{lm} = (g^{lm})^{-1}$, and introduce the variable

$$\mathbf{q} = g^{00} - \eta^{00} + \frac{\eta^{00}}{3} \ln(\det(g^{ij})).$$

With above notations, our main result can be described as follows.

Theorem 1.4 (The nonlinear future stability of Friedmann-Robertson-Walker spacetimes. Statement in wave coordinates). Suppose $k \geq 3$, $g_0^{\mu\nu}(x) \in H^{k+1}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, $g_1^{\mu\nu}(x)$, $m_{\mu}(x) \in H^k(\mathbb{T}^3)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{T}^3$. Then there exists a small parameter $\epsilon > 0$, such that if the initial data sets satisfy the constraint equations of Remark 1.3 and

$$\|g_0^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}(1)\|_{H^{k+1}} + \|g_1^{\mu\nu} - \partial_\tau \eta^{\mu\nu}(1)\|_{H^k} + \|m_\mu(x) - \partial_\mu \overline{\Psi}(1)\|_{H^k} < \epsilon,$$

then there exists a unique classical solution $g^{\mu\nu}$, $\Psi \in C^2((0,1] \times \mathbb{T}^3)$ to the conformal Einstein-Euler system of GCG (1.10) and it has the following regularity

$$g^{\mu\nu} \in C^0((0,1], H^{k+1}(\mathbb{T}^3)) \cap C^0([0,1], H^k(\mathbb{T}^3)) \cap C^1((0,1], H^k(\mathbb{T}^3)) \cap C^1([0,1], H^{k-1}(\mathbb{T}^3))$$

and

$$\partial_{\mu}\Psi \in C^{0}((0,1], H^{k}(\mathbb{T}^{3})) \cap C^{0}([0,1], H^{k-1}(\mathbb{T}^{3})).$$

The solution also satisfies

$$\|g^{\mu\nu}(\tau)-\eta^{\mu\nu}(\tau)\|_{H^{k+1}}+\|g^{\mu\nu}_{\kappa}(\tau)-\partial_{\kappa}\eta^{\mu\nu}(\tau)\|_{H^{k}}+\|\partial_{\mu}\Psi(\tau)-\partial_{\mu}\overline{\Psi}(\tau)\|_{H^{k}}< C\epsilon,$$

for some positive constants C. Moreover, there exists $\gamma^{\mu} \in H^{k-1}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, such that the solution for all $\tau \in [0,1]$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_{\tau}g^{0\mu}(\tau) - 2\tau^{-1}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) + \gamma^{\mu}\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\tau}g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \tau^{-1}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau))\|_{H^{k-1}} + \|\partial_{i}g^{0\mu}(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq -C\epsilon\tau\ln\tau, \\ \|q(\tau) - q(0)\|_{H^{k}} + \|\partial_{\tau}q(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\mathbf{g}^{ij}(\tau) - \mathbf{g}^{ij}(0)\|_{H^{k}} + \|\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{g}^{ij}(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\mu}\Psi(\tau) - \partial_{\mu}\Psi(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\tau}\overline{\Psi}(0) - \partial_{\tau}\Psi(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon, \\ \|\partial_{i}\Psi(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon, \end{split}$$

with, furthermore,

$$p_{\alpha}(0) = \alpha.$$

- **Remark 1.5.** 1. The above results show that in the future of the Einstein-Euler equations of GCG, the speed of sound is $\sqrt{\alpha}$, especially for Chaplygin gas, it means that the speed of sound is equal to the speed of light. This phenomenon is very interesting and quite different from the problem of a fluid moving in a Universe with positive cosmological constant Λ .
- 2. When $\alpha = 1$, the Euler system is linearly degenerate, while when $0 < \alpha < 1$, this system is genuinely nonlinear and shocks generally form in finite time, no matter how small the perturbations are in the flat Minkowski spacetime. Our result shows that the spacetime expansion stabilize the fluid and prevent the formation of shocks.

The main idea of the proof is turning system (1.10) into a symmetric hyperbolic system under appropriate wave coordinates $Z^{\mu}=0$. Here we would like to see some differences between our paper and Oliynyk's and others' mentioned above. Firstly, we consider the nonlinear future stability of the nontrivial FRW solutions, thus, we need to choose different coordinates, which can be seen as a generalization of Oliynyk's work; second, for irrotational fluids, we have to choose an appropriate conformal factor in order to solve the difficulty brought by the degeneracy of the enthalpy $\sqrt{\tilde{h}}$.

An outline of this paper is as follows. In Section 2.1, we give some preliminaries on the notations and norms used in this paper. Sections 2.2 and 2.3 are aimed at giving the detailed formulation of the problem and studying the properties of the FRW background solutions. Section 3 is the main part of the whole paper, we present our choice of coordinates in Section 3.1. In Sections 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4, we turn the whole system into a symmetric hyperbolic system and analyze the structure of this system. Sections 3.5 and 3.6 contain the proof of the main results.

2 Formulation of the problem

2.1 Notation

Greek indices μ range from 0 to 3, while Latin indices i range from 1 to 3. Repeated lower and upper indices means summation with their corresponding metric. For the metrics in this paper, we use \widetilde{g} and $\widetilde{\eta}$ to denote the original metric and original background metric respectively; we also use g and η to denote the conformal metric and the conformal background metric. $\widetilde{\Gamma}$, $\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}$, Γ and $\overline{\Gamma}$ denote the Christoffel symbols with respect to \widetilde{g} , $\widetilde{\eta}$, g and η , respectively, similar conventions are used for the curvature tensors \widetilde{R} , $\overline{\widetilde{R}}$, R, \overline{R} and the norms \widetilde{h} , $\overline{\widetilde{h}}$, h and \overline{h} , whose square root denotes the physical quantity "enthalpy".

For convenience, we use $A \sim B$ to denote the equivalence relationship between A and B, which means that there exists a positive constant C > 1, such that $\frac{A}{C} \leq B \leq CA$. $\widetilde{\partial}_{\mu} = \widetilde{\partial}_{x^{\mu}}$ and $\partial_{\mu} = \partial_{x^{\mu}}$ are the partial derivatives of the original spacetime and the conformal spacetime. Similar definitions are used for the covariant derivatives $\widetilde{\nabla}$ and ∇ .

For a function u(t, x), we define the following standard sobolev norms

$$||u(t,x)||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^n)} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} |u(t,x)|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
$$||u(t,x)||_{H^k(\mathbb{T}^n)} := \sum_{I=0}^k ||D^I u(t,x)||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^n)},$$

and $||u(t,x)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{T}^3} |u(t,x)|$.

2.2 Stress energy tensor for irrotational fluids

In this section, we focus on the derivation of the irrotational energy momentum tensor $\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}$. For isentropic fluids, the pressure is given by

$$p = n \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial n} - \rho, \tag{2.1}$$

where n denotes the number of particles per unit volume. We also have

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}(n\widetilde{u}^{\mu}) = 0.$$

In this paper, we consider the generalized Chaplygin gas, whose equation of state is given by

$$p = -\frac{A^2}{\rho^{\alpha}},\tag{2.2}$$

where A is a positive constant and $0 < \alpha \le 1$.

By solving a simple ODE (2.1), we have $\rho^{\alpha+1} - A^2 = J(1)n^{\alpha+1}$, where $J(1) = \frac{\rho^{\alpha+1}(1) - A^2}{n^{\alpha+1}(1)}$ depends only on the initial data of the state variables (ρ, n) at $\tau = 1$. Define the enthalpy in the original spacetime by

$$\sqrt{\widetilde{h}} = \frac{\rho + p}{n} = J^{\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}}(1) \left(1 - \frac{A^2}{\rho^{\alpha + 1}} \right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha + 1}},$$

then

$$\rho = \left[\frac{A^2 J^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}(1)}{J^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}(1) - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}} \right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}.$$

Denote $J^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}(1) = I$, then

$$\rho = \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},\tag{2.3}$$

and

$$p = -\frac{A^2}{\rho^{\alpha}} = -A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \left(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}.$$
 (2.4)

By above two equalities (2.3) and (2.4), we can easily get

$$p + \rho = \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},$$

and

$$\rho-p=A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{2I-\widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I-\widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$

Assume that the fluid is irrotational, then there locally exists a potential function $\Psi(\tau, x)$ such that

$$\widetilde{u}^{\mu} = -\frac{\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi}{\sqrt{\widetilde{h}}}.$$

Based on the normalization condition $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\tilde{u}^{\mu}\tilde{u}^{\nu}=-1$, and $\tilde{u}^{0}<0$, in our spacetime, we have

$$\widetilde{h} = -\widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi \ge 0, \quad \widetilde{\partial}^{\tau}\Psi \ge 0.$$

Thus, we can define our stress energy tensor as follows

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)\widetilde{u}^{\mu}\widetilde{u}^{\nu} + p\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu} = A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\left[\frac{\widetilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - (I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\widetilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\right]. \tag{2.5}$$

At the same time, we have

$$\widetilde{T} = \widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = -\rho - p + 4p = A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \frac{-4I + 3\widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{2\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(2.6)

Remark 2.1. 1. It is easy to choose appropriate initial data for the state variables (ρ, n) such that $I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} > 0$ to ensure the hyperbolicity of the fluid equation.

2. For the existence of the potential function Ψ and further results concerning analysis of irrotational fluids, we refer to [12, 19, 21].

2.3 The class of Friedmann-Robertson-Walker spacetimes

In this section, we study some properties of the background FRW solutions. At first, we are ready to give the detailed information of our spacetime. The metric endowed by the original spacetime $(0,1] \times \mathbb{T}^3$ is

$$\widetilde{g} = \widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}, \tag{2.7}$$

which can be seen as the perturbation of the following metric

$$\widetilde{\eta} = \frac{1}{\tau^2} \left(-\frac{1}{w^2(\tau)} d\tau^2 + \sum_{i=1}^3 (dx^i)^2 \right),$$
(2.8)

where $\tau = \frac{1}{a(t)}$ and $w(t) = \frac{\dot{a}(t)}{a(t)}$, for some scale factor a(t) with $t \in [0, +\infty)$. Obviously

$$d\tau = -\frac{1}{a^2(t)}\dot{a}(t) = -\tau w(t)dt.$$

Note in passing that the metric (2.8) is equivalent to

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) \sum_{i=1}^{3} (dx^{i})^{2},$$

which is the original model studied in physics.

As discussed in Section 1.3, we do not work with the spacetime metric (2.7) directly but instead use the conformally transformed metric

$$g_{\mu\nu} = e^{-2\Phi} \widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\tag{2.9}$$

where $\Phi = -\ln(\tau)$. We will consider above g (2.9) as a small perturbation of the following metric

$$\eta = -\frac{1}{w^2(\tau)}d\tau^2 + \sum_{i=1}^3 (dx^i)^2, \tag{2.10}$$

which is the conformal transformation of (2.8). Under above conformal transformations, the Einstein equations are equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} G^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu} := e^{4\Phi} \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} + 2(\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi - \nabla^{\mu}\Phi\nabla^{\nu}\Phi) - (2\Box_{g}\Phi + |\nabla\Phi|_{g}^{2})g^{\mu\nu}, \\ \nabla_{\mu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = -6\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\Phi + g_{\kappa\lambda}\widetilde{T}^{\kappa\lambda}g^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\Phi. \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

Expanding the first equation of (2.11), we have by inserting $\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}$ defined by (2.5)

$$-2R^{\mu\nu} = -4\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi + 4\nabla^{\mu}\Phi\nabla^{\nu}\Phi - 2\left[\Box_{g}\Phi + 2|\nabla\Phi|_{g}^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{2}A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{2I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}e^{2\Phi}g^{\mu\nu} - 2e^{4\Phi}\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},$$

$$(2.12)$$

or equivalently

$$-2R_{\mu\nu} = -4\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\Phi + 4\nabla_{\mu}\Phi\nabla_{\nu}\Phi - 2\left[\Box_{g}\Phi + 2|\nabla\Phi|_{g}^{2}\right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{2I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}e^{2\Phi}\right]g_{\mu\nu} - 2\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}_{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}_{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$

$$(2.13)$$

Now we consider the background FRW solution to (2.11). Assume that there exists $\Psi(\tau, x) = \overline{\Psi}(\tau)$ satisfies (2.11) with background metric (2.10). Then it is easy to see that

$$\begin{split} \overline{\widetilde{h}} &:= -\widetilde{\eta}_{00}\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau}\overline{\Psi}\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau}\overline{\Psi} = \frac{1}{\tau^{2}w^{2}}(\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau}\overline{\Psi})^{2}.\\ \widetilde{T}^{00} &= A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\left[\frac{\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2}w^{2}}{(I-\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + (I-\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tau^{2}w^{2}\right],\\ \widetilde{T}^{0i} &= 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$\widetilde{T}^{ij} = A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \left[-(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \tau^2 \right] \delta^{ij}.$$

Furthermore, we have

$$\overline{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \eta^{00} (\partial_{\tau} \eta_{00}) \delta^{\lambda}_{0} \delta^{0}_{\mu} \delta^{0}_{\nu} = -\frac{\partial_{\tau} w}{w} \delta^{\lambda}_{0} \delta^{0}_{\mu} \delta^{0}_{\nu},$$

then

$$\overline{R}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\alpha} \overline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu} \overline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\alpha\nu} + \overline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\alpha\lambda} \overline{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} - \overline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu\lambda} \overline{\lambda}^{\alpha}_{\alpha\nu} = 0.$$

With above preparations, we have the following important lemma, which are the represent formulas of the background FRW solutions.

Lemma 2.2. There exists a family of solutions $(w(\tau), \overline{\Psi}(\tau))$ to (2.11)-(2.13), and the solutions satisfy the following

$$\widetilde{\overline{h}} = \frac{(IK)^{\frac{2\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \tau^{6\alpha}}{(1 + K\tau^{3(1+\alpha)})^{\frac{2\alpha}{\alpha+1}}},$$

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} = \frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \tau^{3\alpha+1} w}{(1 + K\tau^{3(1+\alpha)})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}},$$

$$3w^{2} = \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}{(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},$$

$$\partial_{t} w = -\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{2(I - \widetilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},$$
(2.14)

where K is a constant depending only on the initial data.

Proof. At first, we consider the 0-th component of the fluid equations, we have by neglecting $A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}$

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{\mu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu0} &= \partial_{\tau}\widetilde{T}^{00} + \partial_{i}\widetilde{T}^{0i} + 2\overline{\Gamma}_{00}^{0}\widetilde{T}^{00} \\ &= \partial_{\tau}\left(\frac{\tau^{2}w^{2}I}{\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right) - \frac{2\partial_{\tau}w}{w}\left(\frac{\tau^{2}w^{2}I}{\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right) \\ &= \frac{6}{\tau}\left[\frac{\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2}w^{2}}{\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + \left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tau^{2}w^{2}\right] \\ &- \frac{w^{2}}{\tau}\left[\frac{\tau^{2}\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha}}}{\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + 4\tau^{2}\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\right]. \end{split}$$

Solving above ODE, we easily get

$$I\tau\partial_{\tau}\left(\frac{1}{(I-\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right) = \frac{3\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I-\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}},$$
(2.15)

(2.15) is equivalent to

$$I\tau\partial_{\tau}\overline{\widetilde{h}} = 6\alpha\overline{\widetilde{h}}(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}).$$

By setting

$$\xi = \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}$$

we have

$$\frac{Id\xi}{\xi(I-\xi)} = \frac{3(\alpha+1)d\tau}{\tau}.$$
 (2.16)

Solving (2.16), we have

$$\xi = \frac{IK\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}}{1 + K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}},$$

where $K = \frac{\xi(1)}{I - \xi(1)}$ and thus,

$$\overline{\widetilde{h}} = \frac{(IK)^{\frac{2\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \tau^{6\alpha}}{(1 + K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)})^{\frac{2\alpha}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(2.17)

Obviously, we have

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} = (\tau^2 w^2 \overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} \tau^{3\alpha+1} w}{(1 + K\tau^{3(1+\alpha)})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(2.18)

The *i*-th components of the fluid equations hold obviously.

Now we consider the Einstein equations.

At first, from $\overline{R}_{ij} = 0$, we have

$$-\frac{w^2}{\tau^2} + \frac{w\partial_{\tau}w}{\tau} - \frac{2w^2}{\tau^2} + \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}}{2\tau^2} \frac{2I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} = 0.$$
 (2.19)

Combining (2.19) with $\overline{R}_{00} = 0$, we have

$$-4\left(\frac{1}{\tau^{2}} - \frac{\partial_{\tau}w}{\tau w}\right) + \frac{4}{\tau^{2}} - \frac{2A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}_{\tau}\overline{\Psi}\widetilde{\partial}_{\tau}\overline{\Psi}}{\left(I - \overline{\widetilde{h}}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} = 0. \tag{2.20}$$

From (2.19), (2.20) and $\partial_{\tau}w = -\frac{\partial_{t}w}{\tau w}$, we easily get

$$\begin{cases} 3w^{2} - \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} = 0, \\ -\partial_{t}w = \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{2(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}. \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

The lemma holds by combing (2.17), (2.18) and (2.21).

Corollary 2.1. By the above lemma and via a Taylor expansion, we see that when $\tau \to 0$,

$$\begin{cases}
3w^2 - A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} \sim \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}, \\
-\partial_t w \sim \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}, \\
\partial_\tau(\dot{w}) \sim \tau^{3\alpha+2}, \\
\partial_\tau^2 w \sim \tau^{3\alpha+1}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.22)

The asymptotic behavior above plays very important roles in the analysis of the source terms in Section 3.4.

Proof. The first and second asymptotic behavior can be obtained directly from (2.14). The third asymptotic behavior can be derived by differentiating \dot{w} directly and use (2.17). For the last, we have

$$\partial_{\tau}^{2} w = \partial_{\tau} \left(-\frac{\dot{w}}{\tau w} \right) = -\frac{\partial_{\tau} \dot{w}}{\tau w} + \frac{\dot{w}w}{(\tau w)^{2}} - \frac{(\dot{w})^{2}}{\tau^{2} w^{3}} \sim \tau^{3\alpha+1}.$$

Remark 2.3. Since we have confined $\tau \in (0,1]$, which means that we set initially a(0) = 1. Thus, we have to prove that when $t \to \infty$, $a(t) \to +\infty$. From (2.14), there must exist two positive constants A_1 and A_2 such that

$$A_1 \le w(t) = \frac{\dot{a}(t)}{a(t)} \le A_2,$$

then by comparison theorem of ODE, $e^{A_1t} \le a(t) \le e^{A_2t}$. It is obvious that $a(t) = +\infty$, when $t \to +\infty$.

3 Proof of the nonlinear stability property

3.1 The wave gauge

Our first task is to introdude appropriate coordinates. For the background metric $\tilde{\eta}$, we have

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}_{00}^0 = -\frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau w^2},$$

and

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}_{ii}^0 = -\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\eta}^{00}\partial_{\tau}\widetilde{\eta}_{ii} = -\frac{w^2}{\tau}.$$

Then, we obtain

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}^0 = \widetilde{\eta}^{00} \overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}^0_{00} + \widetilde{\eta}^{ii} \overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}^0_{ii} = -2\tau w^2 - \tau \dot{w},$$

and

$$e^{2\Phi}\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}^0 = -\frac{2w^2}{\tau} - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau}.\tag{3.1}$$

Direct calculations show that

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Gamma}}^i = 0, \quad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (3.2)

For the conformal metric η , we have

$$\overline{\Gamma}^{\mu} = -\frac{\dot{w}}{\tau} \delta_0^{\mu}. \tag{3.3}$$

On the other hand, under conformal transformation (2.9)

$$\Gamma^{\mu} = g^{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = 2 \nabla^{\mu} \Phi + e^{2\Phi} \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mu}. \tag{3.4}$$

Define the wave coordinates as

$$Z^{\mu} = \Gamma^{\mu} + Y^{\mu} = \Gamma^{\mu} + \frac{2}{\tau} \left(g^{\mu 0} + (w^2 + \frac{\dot{w}}{2}) \delta_0^{\mu} \right) := \Gamma^{\mu} + \frac{2}{\tau} \left(g^{\mu 0} + \frac{\Lambda(\tau)}{3} \delta_0^{\mu} \right). \tag{3.5}$$

In (3.5), we have denoted $w^2 + \frac{\dot{w}}{2}$ by $\frac{\Lambda(\tau)}{3}$ for convenience.

Remark 3.1. 1. By results in Zenginoğlu [23], we see that if initially $Z^{\mu} = 0$, then $Z^{\mu} \equiv 0$ in the whole evolution of the Einstein-Euler system.

- 2. From (3.5), we can see that $Y^{\mu} = -2\nabla^{\mu}\Phi e^{2\Phi}\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mu}$. From (3.1)-(3.4) we see that for the background metric η , $Z^{\mu} \equiv 0$. This fact is very important for the disappear of the linear parts of the conformal Einstein and conformal fluid equations (1.10).
 - 3. When $w^2 = \frac{\Lambda}{3}$ with Λ a positive constant, this is exactly the case considered by Oliynyk [15].

3.2 The reduced conformal Einstein equations

With the wave coordinates Z^{μ} defined by (3.5), we can consider the following equivalently reduced conformal Einstein equations by assuming $Z^{\mu}|_{\tau=1}=0$

$$-2R^{\mu\nu} + 2\nabla^{(\mu}Z^{\nu)} + A_{\kappa}^{\mu\nu}Z^{\kappa} = -4\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi + 4\nabla^{\mu}\Phi\nabla^{\nu}\Phi$$

$$- 2\left[\Box_{g}\Phi + 2|\nabla\Phi|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{2I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}e^{2\Phi}\right]g^{\mu\nu}$$

$$- 2e^{4\Phi}\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(3.6)

With

$$A_{\kappa}^{\mu\nu} = -\Gamma^{(\mu}\delta_{\kappa}^{\nu)} + Y^{(\mu}\delta_{\kappa}^{\nu)} \quad \text{and} \quad \nabla^{(\mu}Z^{\nu)} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla^{\mu}Z^{\nu} + \nabla^{\nu}Z^{\mu}),$$

we have

$$\begin{array}{lcl} 2\nabla^{(\mu}Z^{\nu)} & = & 2\nabla^{(\mu}\Gamma^{\nu)} + \nabla^{\mu}Y^{\nu} + \nabla^{\nu}Y^{\mu} \\ & = & 2\nabla^{(\mu}\Gamma^{\nu)} + \partial_{\tau}\left(\frac{2\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}\right)(g^{i0}\delta^{\nu}_{0} + g^{\nu0}\delta^{\mu}_{0}) - \frac{2\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}\partial_{\tau}g^{\mu\nu} - 4\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi^{\nu} + \frac{2}{3\tau}\partial^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi^{\nu} + \frac{2}{3\tau}\partial^{\nu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi^{\nu} + \frac{2}{3\tau}\partial^{\nu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi^{\nu} + \frac{2}{3\tau}\partial^{\nu}\nabla^{\nu}\Phi^{\nu} + \frac{2$$

and

$$\begin{array}{lcl} A_k^{\mu\nu} Z^{\kappa} & = & (-\Gamma^{(\mu} \delta_{\kappa}^{\nu)} + Y^{(\mu} \delta_{\kappa}^{\nu)}) (\Gamma^{\kappa} + Y^{\kappa}) \\ & = & -\Gamma^{(\mu} \Gamma^{\nu)} + 4 \nabla^{\mu} \Phi \nabla^{\nu} \Phi - \frac{4 \Lambda(\tau)}{3 \tau} (\nabla^{\mu} \Phi \delta_0^{\nu} + \nabla^{\nu} \Phi \delta_0^{\mu}) + \frac{4 \Lambda^2(\tau)}{9 \tau^2} \delta_0^{\mu} \delta_0^{\nu}. \end{array}$$

The Einstein equations (2.12) become

$$\begin{split} -2R^{\mu\nu} & + & 2\nabla^{(\mu}\Gamma^{\nu)} - \Gamma^{\mu}\Gamma^{\nu} = \frac{2\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}\partial_{\tau}g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2\partial_{\tau}\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}(g^{\mu0}\delta_{0}^{\nu} + g^{\nu0}\delta_{0}^{\mu}) \\ & - & \frac{4\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau^{2}}\left(g^{00} + \frac{\Lambda(\tau)}{3}\right)\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{4\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau^{2}}g^{0i}\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{\nu)} - \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{\mu\nu}\left(g^{00} + \frac{\Lambda(\tau)}{3}\right) \\ & + & \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}\left(\Lambda(\tau) - A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{I - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right)g^{\mu\nu} \\ & - & 2e^{4\Phi}\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}. \end{split}$$

Expanding the left hand of above and inserting $\frac{\Lambda(\tau)}{3} = w^2 + \frac{\dot{w}}{2}$, we get

$$\begin{array}{lll} -g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\mu\nu} & = & \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{00} + w^{2})\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}g^{0i}\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{\nu)} \\ & - & \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{\mu\nu}(g^{00} + w^{2}) - \frac{2\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{00} + w^{2} + \frac{\dot{w}}{2})\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}g^{\mu\nu} \\ & - & \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}w^{2}\dot{w}\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{2\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}g^{0i}\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{\nu)} - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2\partial_{\tau}\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}(g^{\mu0}\delta_{0}^{\nu} + g^{\nu0}\delta_{0}^{\mu}) \\ & + & \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}\left(3w^{2} + \frac{3\dot{w}}{2} - A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\frac{I - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right)g^{\mu\nu} \\ & - & 2e^{4\Phi}\frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + Q^{\mu\nu}(g,\partial g) \end{array}$$

$$:= \frac{2w^2}{\tau} \partial_{\tau} g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{4w^2}{\tau^2} (g^{00} + w^2) \delta_0^{\mu} \delta_0^{\nu} - \frac{4w^2}{\tau^2} g^{0i} \delta_0^{(\mu} \delta_i^{\nu)} \\ - \frac{2}{\tau^2} g^{\mu\nu} (g^{00} + w^2) + M^{\mu\nu}$$

or equivalently

$$-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}(g^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}) = \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}(g^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}) - \frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{00} + w^{2})\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}g^{0i}\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{\nu)} - \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{\mu\nu}(g^{00} + w^{2}) + \hat{M}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.7)

We have

$$\hat{M}^{\mu\nu} = M^{\mu\nu} + g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}\eta^{\mu\nu} + 2\frac{w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}\eta^{\mu\nu}
= (g^{\kappa\lambda} - \eta^{\kappa\lambda})\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{00} + w^{2})\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\nu} - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}(g^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}) - \frac{2\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}g^{0i}\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{\nu)}
- \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}) - \frac{2\partial_{\tau}\Lambda(\tau)}{3\tau}\left((g^{\mu0} - \eta^{\mu0})\delta_{0}^{\nu} + (g^{\nu0} - \eta^{\nu0})\delta_{0}^{\mu}\right)
+ \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\left(\frac{I - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{I - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right)g^{\mu\nu}
-2e^{4\Phi}A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\left(\frac{\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{\tilde{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\tilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I - \tilde{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\right)
+Q^{\mu\nu}(g,\partial g) - Q^{\mu\nu}(\eta,\partial \eta)$$
(3.8)

Remark 3.2. 1. In above, $Q^{\mu\nu}(g,\partial g)$ are quadratic in $\partial g=(\partial_{\kappa}g^{\mu\nu})$ and analytical in $g=(g^{\mu\nu})$. Thus, in $\hat{M}^{\mu\nu}$, each term contains $g-\eta$ or $\widetilde{\partial}\Psi-\widetilde{\partial}\overline{\Psi}$, which will be proved later.

2. Equation (2.12) is equivalent to (3.7), provided that $Z^{\mu} = 0$. On the other hand, the background solution $(\eta, \overline{\Psi}(\tau))$ defined in Section 2.3 satisfies (3.7) obviously, since $Z^{\mu} \equiv 0$ for the metric η , which is also the reason for the disappear of the linear parts of (3.8)

The main part of this paper is turning the Einstein-Euler system of GCG into a symmetric hyperbolic system, thus we make this process clear in the following.

Recall the densitized three metric defined in Section 1.3

$$\mathbf{g}^{ij} = \det(\check{g}_{lm})^{\frac{1}{3}} g^{ij},\tag{3.9}$$

where

$$\check{g}_{lm} = (g^{lm})^{-1}$$

and the variable

$$\mathbf{q} = g^{00} + w^2 - \frac{w^2}{3} \ln(\det(g^{pq})). \tag{3.10}$$

It is easy to check that

$$\partial_{\mu} \mathbf{g}^{ij} = (\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij} \partial_{\mu} g^{lm}, \tag{3.11}$$

where

$$\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij} = \delta_l^i \delta_m^j - \frac{1}{3} \check{g}_{lm} g^{ij}.$$

Obviously, \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij} is trace-free, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}g^{lm}=0.$$

Define

$$\mathbf{u}^{0\nu} = \frac{g^{0\nu} - \eta^{0\nu}}{2\tau},\tag{3.12}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_0^{0\nu} = \partial_{\tau}(g^{0\nu} - \eta^{0\nu}) - \frac{3(g^{0\nu} - \eta^{0\nu})}{2\tau}, \tag{3.13}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_i^{0\nu} = \partial_i (g^{0\nu} - \eta^{0\nu}), \tag{3.14}$$

$$\mathbf{u}^{ij} = \mathbf{g}^{ij} - \delta^{ij}, \tag{3.15}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{\mu}^{ij} = \partial_{\mu} \mathbf{g}^{ij}, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{q}, \tag{3.17}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\mathbf{q}. \tag{3.18}$$

At first, we consider the equation satisfied by $g^{0\mu} - \eta^{0\mu}$.

Utilizing (3.12)-(3.14) and inserting $g^{0\mu} - \eta^{0\mu} = 2\tau \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}$, $\partial_i (g^{0\mu} - \eta^{0\mu}) = \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu}$ and $\partial_\tau (g^{0\mu} - \eta^{0\mu}) = \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu}$ and $\partial_\tau (g^{0\mu} - \eta^{0\mu}) = \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu} + 3\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}$ into (3.7), we have

$$\begin{split} &-g^{00}\partial_{\tau}(\mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu}+3\mathbf{u}^{0\mu})-2g^{0i}\partial_{i}(\mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu}+3\mathbf{u}^{0\mu})-g^{ij}\partial_{j}\mathbf{u}_{i}^{0\mu}\\ &=&\frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}(\mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu}+3\mathbf{u}^{0\mu})-\frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00})\delta_{0}^{\mu}-\frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{0i})\delta_{0}^{(\mu}\delta_{i}^{0)}-\frac{4}{\tau}g^{0\mu}\mathbf{u}^{00}+\hat{M}^{0\mu}. \end{split}$$

Based on above, we get

Now we consider $\mathbf{g}^{ij} - \delta^{ij}$, direct calculations give

$$-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}\mathbf{g}^{ij} = -g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}[(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}\partial_{\lambda}g^{lm}]$$

$$= (\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}(-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}g^{lm}) - g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}[(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}]\partial_{\lambda}g^{lm}$$

$$= (\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}\left(\frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial\tau(g^{lm}-\eta^{lm})-\frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{lm}(g^{00}+w^{2})+\hat{M}^{lm}\right)$$

$$-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}[(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}]\partial_{\lambda}g^{lm}$$

$$= \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{g}^{ij}+(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}\hat{M}^{lm}-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}[(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}}\mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}]\partial_{\lambda}g^{lm}$$

$$:= \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{g}^{ij}+\hat{M}^{ij}. \tag{3.20}$$

We have

$$\hat{M}^{ij} = (\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij} \hat{M}^{lm} - g^{\kappa\lambda} \partial_{\kappa} [(\det(\check{g}_{pq}))^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}] \partial_{\lambda} g^{lm}$$

Then by (3.15)-(3.16), we have

$$-g^{00}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{u}_{0}^{ij} - 2g^{0i}\partial_{i}\mathbf{u}_{0}^{ij} - g^{pq}\partial_{p}\mathbf{u}_{q}^{ij}$$

$$= \frac{2}{\tau}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00} - g^{00})\mathbf{u}_{0}^{ij} + \mathring{M}^{ij}$$

$$= -\frac{2}{\tau}g^{00}\mathbf{u}_{0}^{ij} + 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}_{0}^{ij} + \mathring{M}^{ij}.$$
(3.21)

At last, we consider \mathbf{q} , we have by (3.10)

$$\partial_{\lambda} \mathbf{q} = \partial_{\lambda} (g^{00} + w^2) - \frac{w^2}{3} g_{pq} \partial_{\lambda} g^{pq} - \frac{2w \partial_{\tau} w \delta_0^{\lambda}}{3} \ln(\det(g^{pq})). \tag{3.22}$$

Then by (3.22)

$$\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}\mathbf{q} = \partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}(g^{00} + w^{2}) - \frac{w^{2}}{3}g_{pq}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}g^{pq} - \frac{w^{2}}{3}\partial_{\kappa}g_{pq}\partial_{\lambda}g^{pq} - \frac{2w\partial_{\tau}w\delta_{0}^{\kappa}}{3}g_{pq}\partial_{\lambda}g^{pq} - \frac{2(\partial_{\tau}w)^{2}}{3}\delta_{0}^{\lambda}\delta_{0}^{\kappa}\ln(\det(g^{pq})) - \frac{2w\partial_{\tau}^{2}w}{3}\delta_{0}^{\lambda}\delta_{0}^{\kappa}\ln(\det(g^{pq})) - \frac{2w\partial_{\tau}w}{3}\delta_{0}^{\lambda}g_{pq}\partial_{\kappa}g^{pq} := \partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}(g^{00} + w^{2}) - \frac{w^{2}}{3}g_{pq}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}g^{pq} + R^{\mathbf{q}},$$

$$(3.23)$$

where

$$R^{\mathbf{q}} = -\frac{w^2}{3} \partial_{\kappa} g_{pq} \partial_{\lambda} g^{pq} - \frac{2w \partial_{\tau} w \delta_0^{\kappa}}{3} g_{pq} \partial_{\lambda} g^{pq} - \frac{2(\partial_{\tau} w)^2}{3} \delta_0^{\lambda} \delta_0^{\kappa} \ln(\det(g^{pq})) - \frac{2w \partial_{\tau} w}{3} \delta_0^{\lambda} \delta_0^{\kappa} \ln(\det(g^{pq})) - \frac{2w \partial_{\tau} w}{3} \delta_0^{\lambda} g_{pq} \partial_{\kappa} g^{pq}.$$

Thus, we have by (3.17)-(3.18)

$$-g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}\mathbf{q} = -g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}(g^{00} + w^{2}) + \frac{w^{2}}{3}g_{pq}g^{\kappa\lambda}\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}g^{pq} - g^{\kappa\lambda}R^{\mathbf{q}}$$

$$= \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}(g^{00} + w^{2}) - \frac{4w^{2}}{\tau^{2}}(g^{00} + w^{2}) - \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{00}(g^{00} + w^{2}) + \hat{M}^{00}$$

$$-\frac{w^{2}}{3}g_{pq}(\frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}g^{pq} - \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}g^{pq}(g^{00} + w^{2}) + \hat{M}^{pq}) - g^{\kappa\lambda}R^{\mathbf{q}}$$

$$= \frac{2w^{2}}{\tau}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{q} - 2\left(\frac{g^{00} + w^{2}}{\tau}\right)^{2} + \hat{M}^{00} - \frac{w^{2}}{3}g_{pq}\hat{M}^{pq}$$

$$+ \frac{4w^{3}\partial_{\tau}w}{3\tau}\ln(\det g^{pq}) - g^{\kappa\lambda}R^{\mathbf{q}}$$

$$:= \frac{2}{\tau}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00} - g^{00})\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{q} - 8(\mathbf{u}^{00})^{2} + \hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}}$$

$$= -\frac{2}{\tau}g^{00}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{q} + 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{q} - 8(\mathbf{u}^{00})^{2} + \hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}}.$$
(3.24)

We have

$$\hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}} = \hat{M}^{00} - \frac{w^2}{3} g_{pq} \hat{M}^{pq} + \frac{4w^3 \partial_{\tau} w}{3\tau} \ln(\det(g^{pq})) - g^{\kappa \lambda} R^{\mathbf{q}}.$$

From (3.24), we have

$$-g^{00}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{u}_{0} - 2g^{0i}\partial_{i}\mathbf{u}_{0} - g^{ij}\partial_{i}\mathbf{u}_{j}$$

$$= -\frac{2}{\tau}g^{00}\mathbf{u}_{0} + 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}_{0} - 8(\mathbf{u}^{00})^{2} + \hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}}.$$
(3.25)

From (3.19), (3.21) and (3.25), we easily transform the Einstein equations into the following symmetric hyperbolic system

$$A^{\kappa} \partial_{\kappa} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j}^{0\mu} \\ \mathbf{u}^{0\mu} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\tau} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{P} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j}^{0\mu} \\ \mathbf{u}^{0\mu} \end{pmatrix} + F^{0\mu}, \tag{3.26}$$

$$A^{\kappa} \partial_{\kappa} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0}^{lm} \\ \mathbf{u}_{0}^{lm} \\ \mathbf{u}^{lm} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\tau} (-2g^{00}) \Pi \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0}^{lm} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j}^{lm} \\ \mathbf{u}^{lm} \end{pmatrix} + F^{lm}, \tag{3.27}$$

and

$$A^{\kappa} \partial_{\kappa} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j} \\ \mathbf{u} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\tau} (-2g^{00}) \Pi \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{0} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j} \\ \mathbf{u} \end{pmatrix} + F^{\mathbf{q}}, \tag{3.28}$$

where

$$A^0 = \begin{pmatrix} -g^{00} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g^{ij} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -g^{00} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A^k = \begin{pmatrix} -2g^{0k} & -g^{jk} & 0 \\ -g^{ik} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{P} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \delta_k^j & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{A} = \begin{pmatrix} -g^{00} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{3}{2}g^{jk} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -g^{00} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad F^{0\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 6\mathbf{u}^{0i}\mathbf{u}^{0\mu} + 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu} - 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}^{0\mu} + \hat{M}^{0\mu} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$F^{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} & 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}_0^{ij} + \acute{M}^{ij} \\ & 0 \\ & g^{00}\mathbf{u}_0^{lm} \end{pmatrix}, \quad F^{\mathbf{q}} = \begin{pmatrix} & 4\mathbf{u}^{00}\mathbf{u}_0 - 8(\mathbf{u}^{00})^2 + \hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}} \\ & 0 \\ & g^{00}\mathbf{u}_0^{lm} \end{pmatrix}.$$

3.3 The conformal fluid evolution

In this section, we transform the conformal fluid equation into a symmetric hyperbolic system. At first, we choose an appropriate conformal factor for the potential function $\Psi(\tau, x)$.

Define

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi = e^{-\lambda\Phi}\partial^{\mu}\Psi = \tau^{\lambda}\partial^{\mu}\Psi, \tag{3.29}$$

where λ will be determined later. Then

$$\widetilde{h} = -\widetilde{g}_{\mu\nu}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi = -\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}g_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi := \tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h. \tag{3.30}$$

In terms of h and $\partial \Psi$, from (3.29), (3.30), we have by neglecting some unnecessary constants $A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}$

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\left[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h\right]^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2\lambda}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tau^{2}g^{\mu\nu}$$
(3.31)

and so

$$\widetilde{T} = 3p - \rho = -\frac{4I - 3[\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h]^{\frac{\alpha + 1}{2\alpha}}}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha + 1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}}}.$$
(3.32)

Then we have by (1.10) and (3.31)-(3.32)

$$\nabla_{\mu}\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{\left[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h\right]^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2\lambda}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tau^{2}g^{\mu\nu} \right) \\
= \nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2\lambda}\partial^{\mu}\Psi}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \right) \partial^{\nu}\Psi + \frac{(\lambda-1)(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2\lambda-1}hg^{0\nu}}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}} \\
- \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}2\tau g^{0\nu} \\
= \frac{6}{\tau} \left(\frac{\left[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h\right]^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2\lambda}\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\tau^{2}g^{0\nu} \right) \\
+\tau g^{0\nu} \frac{4I - 3[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h]^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{\left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}. \tag{3.33}$$

From (3.33), we get easily

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\mu} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \right) \partial^{\nu} \Psi$$

$$= \frac{6}{\tau} \left(\frac{[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h]^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\tau} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \right) \partial^{\nu} \Psi + \tau g^{0\nu} \frac{(2-\lambda)(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(3.34)

Contracting (3.34) with $\partial_{\nu}\Psi$ and using the fact $h=-\partial^{\nu}\Psi\partial_{\nu}\Psi\geq0$, we have

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\mu} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \right) \\
= \frac{6}{\tau} \left(\frac{[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h]^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\tau} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \right) - \frac{(2-\lambda)}{\tau} \frac{(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\tau} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\
= \frac{4+\lambda}{\tau} \frac{(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda} \partial^{\tau} \Psi}{[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \tag{3.35}$$

Expanding (3.35) directly gives

$$[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}] \left(\Box_g \Psi - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{\mu} \Psi \partial^{\nu} \Psi}{h} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Psi\right)$$

$$- \frac{1}{\alpha} (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \partial^{\mu} \Psi \partial^{\nu} \Psi \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Psi + \frac{1}{\alpha} (\lambda - 1) (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2\lambda - 3}h$$

$$= \frac{4 - \lambda - 2(\lambda - 1)\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}}{\tau} \partial^{\tau} \Psi [I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}]. \tag{3.36}$$

We choose λ such that

$$4 - \lambda - 2(\lambda - 1)\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha} = 0,$$

and thus $\lambda = 3\alpha + 1$.

Remark 3.3. If $\lambda = 3\alpha + 1$, then $\widetilde{\partial}\Psi$ has the same asymptotic behavior as the background solution $\overline{\Psi}(\tau)$ when $\tau \to 0$. This property plays very important roles in the non-degeneracy of above wave equation.

Define a function $\Theta(\tau, x)$ such that

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi - \widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi} = \tau^{3\alpha+1}\partial^{\mu}\Theta. \tag{3.37}$$

Then by (3.29)

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\tau} \Psi = \tau^{3\alpha+1} \partial^{\tau} \Psi = \tau^{3\alpha+1} \left(\partial^{\tau} \Theta + \frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} w}{(1 + K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}} \right) := \tau^{3\alpha+1} (\partial^{\tau} \Theta + f(\tau)). \tag{3.38}$$

We have

$$\widetilde{\partial}^i \Psi = \tau^{3\alpha + 1} \partial^i \Theta. \tag{3.39}$$

Based on (3.37)-(3.39), we have

$$h = -g_{00}(\partial^{\tau}\Psi)^{2} - 2g_{0i}\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{i}\Psi - g_{ij}\partial^{i}\Psi\partial^{j}\Psi$$

$$= -g_{00}f^{2}(\tau) - 2g_{0\mu}f(\tau)\partial^{\mu}\Theta - g_{00}(\partial^{\tau}\Theta)^{2} - 2g_{0i}\partial^{i}\Theta\partial^{\tau}\Theta - g_{ij}\partial^{i}\Theta\partial^{j}\Theta.$$
(3.40)

Remark 3.4. It is obvious that $(\widetilde{\eta}, \widetilde{\partial}^{\tau} \overline{\Psi})$ defined in Section 2.3 is a solution to (3.36), which means that $(\eta, \tau^{3\alpha+1} f(\tau))$ is the solution to (3.36).

Define

$$B^{00} = (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}})(g^{00} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}\frac{\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{\tau}\Psi}{h}) - \frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{\tau}\Psi,$$

$$B^{0i} = (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}})(g^{0i} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}\frac{\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{i}\Psi}{h}) - \frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}\partial^{\tau}\Psi\partial^{i}\Psi,$$

$$B^{jk} = (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}})(g^{jk} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}\frac{\partial^{j}\Psi\partial^{k}\Psi}{h}) - \frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}\partial^{j}\Psi\partial^{k}\Psi$$

and similarly

$$\begin{split} \overline{B}^{00} &= (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}) (\eta^{00} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi}}{\overline{h}}) - \frac{1}{\alpha} (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi}, \\ \overline{B}^{0i} &= (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}) (\eta^{0i} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{i} \overline{\Psi}}{\overline{h}}) - \frac{1}{\alpha} (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{i} \overline{\Psi}, \\ \overline{B}^{jk} &= (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}) (\eta^{jk} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{j} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{k} \overline{\Psi}}{\overline{h}}) - \frac{1}{\alpha} (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \overline{h})^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} \partial^{j} \overline{\Psi} \partial^{k} \overline{\Psi}, \end{split}$$

where $\overline{h} = -\eta^{00} \partial_{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \partial_{\tau} \overline{\Psi}$.

Define

$$\mathbf{p}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\Theta = g_{0\nu}\partial^{\nu}\Theta. \tag{3.41}$$

Expanding (3.36) in terms of Θ , we have

$$B^{00}\partial_{\tau}(\partial_{\tau}\Theta) + B^{00}\partial_{\tau}(g_{00}f(\tau)) + 2B^{0i}\partial_{i}\partial_{\tau}\Theta + 2B^{0i}\partial_{i}(g_{00}f(\tau)) + B^{ij}\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\Theta + B^{ij}\partial_{i}(g_{j0}f(\tau)) + T = 0$$
(3.42)

and

$$T = \left[-\Gamma^{\kappa} (\partial_{\kappa} \Theta + g_{\kappa 0} f(\tau)) + \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{\mu} \Psi \partial^{\nu} \Psi}{h} \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu \nu} (\partial_{\kappa} \Theta + g_{\kappa 0} f(\tau)) \right] \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)} h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}} \right]$$

$$+\frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\left[\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(\partial_{\kappa}\Theta+g_{\kappa0}f(\tau))+(\lambda-1)\tau^{2\lambda-3}h\right].$$

From (3.42), we get

$$B^{00}\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{p}_{0} + 2B^{0i}\partial_{i}\mathbf{p}_{0} + B^{ij}\partial_{i}\mathbf{p}_{i} = \hat{T} - \hat{\overline{T}}, \tag{3.43}$$

where

$$\hat{T} = -T - B^{00} \partial_{\tau}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - 2B^{0i} \partial_{i}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - B^{ij} \partial_{i}(g_{j0}f(\tau))$$

$$= \left[\Gamma^{\kappa}(\partial_{\kappa}\Theta + g_{\kappa 0}f(\tau)) - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\partial^{\mu}\Psi \partial^{\nu}\Psi}{h} \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(\partial_{\kappa}\Theta + g_{\kappa 0}f(\tau))\right] \left[I - (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 + \alpha}{2\alpha}}\right]$$

$$- \frac{1}{\alpha} (\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}h)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha}} \left[\tau^{2(\lambda - 1)}\partial^{\mu}\Psi \partial^{\nu}\Psi \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(\partial_{\kappa}\Theta + g_{\kappa 0}f(\tau)) + (\lambda - 1)\tau^{2\lambda - 3}h\right]$$

$$- B^{00} \partial_{\tau}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - 2B^{0i} \partial_{i}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - B^{ij} \partial_{i}(g_{j0}f(\tau)). \tag{3.44}$$

When we use the background metric η instead of g and $\overline{\Psi}$ instead of Ψ to calculate \hat{T} , we get \hat{T} . Clearly $\hat{T} = 0$ since $(\eta, \overline{\Psi})$ is the solution to the fluid equation. From (3.36), (3.43) and (3.44), we can easily rewrite the fluid equation into the following symmetric hyperbolic system

$$B^{\kappa} \partial_{\kappa} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{p}_0 \\ \mathbf{p}_1 \\ \mathbf{p}_2 \\ \mathbf{p}_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{T} - \hat{T} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.45}$$

where

$$B^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} B^{00} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -B^{11} & -B^{21} & -B^{31} \\ 0 & -B^{12} & -B^{22} & -B^{32} \\ 0 & -B^{13} & -B^{23} & -B^{33} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 2B^{0i} & B^{i1} & B^{i2} & B^{i3} \\ B^{i1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ B^{i2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ B^{i3} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

3.4 A key argument for the source terms

In order to analyze the structure of the symmetric hyperbolic system, in this section, we mainly focus on the source terms of above two subsections, especially the terms $\hat{M}^{0\mu}$, \hat{M}^{ij} , \hat{M}^{ij} , $\hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}}$ and $\hat{T} - \hat{\overline{T}}$.

We need the following basic lemmas. At first we have the following algebraic relationship between g^{-1} and g.

Lemma 3.5. Assume $g^{-1} = (g^{\mu\nu})$ is a symmetric $(1+3) \times (1+3)$ Lorentz metric with $g^{00} < 0$ and (g^{ij}) positive definite, then

$$g_{00} = \frac{1}{g^{00} - d^2}, (3.46)$$

$$g_{0i} = \frac{g_{ij}g^{0j}}{d^2 - q^{00}}, (3.47)$$

where $d^2 = g_{ij}g^{0i}g^{0j}$.

Proof. The proof can be found in Lemmas 1 and 2 of [18].

The following two lemmas will be repeatedly used in this section.

Lemma 3.6. Suppose that a_i $(i = 1, \dots, n)$ and \overline{a}_i $(i = 1, \dots, n)$ are smooth functions, then we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i - \prod_{i=1}^{n} \overline{a}_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} F^j(\overline{a}_i, a_i - \overline{a}_i),$$
(3.48)

here

$$F^{j}(a_{i}, a_{i} - \overline{a}_{i}) = \prod_{k=1}^{j} \prod_{l=j+1}^{n} (a_{i_{k}} - \overline{a}_{i_{k}}) \overline{a}_{i_{l}},$$

where $i_k \in (1, \dots, n)$.

Proof. We can get this result by induction. At first, for i = 1, it holds obviously. Assume that (3.48) holds for i = n - 1, namely

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} a_i - \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} F^j(\overline{a}_i, a_i - \overline{a}_i),$$

then for i = n, we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} - \prod_{i=1}^{n} \overline{a}_{i} = a_{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} a_{i} - \overline{a}_{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_{i}$$

$$= (a_{n} - \overline{a}_{n}) (\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} a_{i} - \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_{i}) + \overline{a}_{n} (\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} a_{i} - \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_{i}) + (a^{n} - \overline{a}_{n}) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_{i}$$

$$= (a_{n} - \overline{a}_{n}) (\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} F^{j}(\overline{a}_{i}, a_{i} - \overline{a}_{i})) + \overline{a}_{n} (\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} F^{j}(\overline{a}_{i}, a_{i} - \overline{a}_{i})) + (a^{n} - \overline{a}_{n}) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{a}_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} F^{j}(\overline{a}_{i}, a_{i} - \overline{a}_{i}).$$

The proof of the following result is straighforward

Lemma 3.7. Let f(x) be analytical in the neighborhood of a point \overline{x} , and assume that $f'(\overline{x}) \neq 0$, then there exists a small parameter δ , such that when $x \in [\overline{x} - \delta, \overline{x} + \delta]$, we have

$$f(x) - f(\overline{x}) \sim f'(\overline{x})(x - \overline{x}).$$
 (3.49)

Based on Lemmas 3.5-3.7, we have the following important estimates in terms of the unknowns.

Lemma 3.8. In terms of the unknowns $(\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}_{\nu}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}_{\mu}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{q}_{\mu}, \mathbf{p}_{\mu})$, we have

$$\begin{split} g^{ij} - \eta^{ij} &\sim & \mathbf{u}^{ij} + \frac{\eta^{ij}}{w^2} (2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}), \\ \partial_{\lambda} (g^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) &\sim & \mathbf{u}_{\lambda}^{ij} + \frac{2\dot{w}\eta^{ij}\delta_{\lambda}^{0}}{\tau w^{4}} (2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}) \\ &\qquad + \frac{\eta^{ij}}{w^2} (2\mathbf{u}^{00}\delta_{\lambda}^{0} + 2\tau \mathbf{u}_{i}^{00}\delta_{\lambda}^{i} + (\mathbf{u}_{0}^{00} + \mathbf{u}^{00})\delta_{\lambda}^{0} - \mathbf{q}_{\lambda}), \\ g_{ij} - \eta_{ij} &\sim & \sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k} (\eta^{ij}, g^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) + (\eta^{ij})^{*} \frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{w^{2}}, \\ g_{00} - \eta_{00} &\sim & \frac{-2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} + \sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k} (\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0i} - \eta^{0i}))}{(\eta^{00})^{2}}, \\ g_{0i} - \eta_{0i} &\sim & \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k} (\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0i} - \eta^{0i}), (g^{00} - \eta^{00}))}{(\eta^{00})^{2}}. \\ \partial^{\tau} \Psi - \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} &= & 2\tau \mathbf{u}^{0\nu} \mathbf{p}_{\nu} + \eta^{0\nu} \mathbf{p}_{\nu}, \end{split}$$

$$\partial^{i}\Psi - \partial^{i}\overline{\Psi} \sim (g^{i\nu} - \eta^{i\nu})\mathbf{p}_{\nu} + \eta^{i\nu}\mathbf{p}_{\nu},$$

$$h - \overline{h} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k}(\eta, \partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}, (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}), (\partial^{\mu}\Psi - \partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi})),$$

provided that $\|(\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}_{\nu}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}_{\mu}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{q}_{\mu}, \mathbf{p}_{\mu})\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{3})}$ is sufficiently small. In above, $(\eta^{ij})^{*}$ denotes the cofactor of η^{ij} of the positive definite matrix (η^{ij}) .

Proof. At first, from the definition of \mathbf{g}^{ij} and \mathbf{q} , i.e. (3.9)-(3.10), we have

$$det(g^{ij}) = e^{\frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{w^2}},\tag{3.50}$$

and

$$g^{ij} = e^{\frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^2}} \mathbf{g}^{ij}. \tag{3.51}$$

Then we have by (3.51)

$$g^{ij} - \eta^{ij} = e^{\frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^2}} \mathbf{g}^{ij} - \eta^{ij}$$

$$= e^{\frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^2}} (\mathbf{g}^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) + \eta^{ij} (e^{\frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^2}} - 1)$$

$$\sim \mathbf{u}^{ij} + \eta^{ij} \frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^2}.$$

And we have

$$\partial_{\lambda}(g^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) = \partial_{\lambda}(e^{\frac{2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}}{w^{2}}}\mathbf{g}^{ij} - \eta^{ij})$$

$$\sim \mathbf{u}_{\lambda}^{ij} + \frac{2\dot{w}\eta^{ij}\delta_{\lambda}^{0}}{\tau w^{4}}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}) + \frac{\eta^{ij}}{w^{2}}(2\mathbf{u}^{00}\delta_{\lambda}^{0} + 2\tau\partial_{\lambda}\mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}_{\lambda}).$$

Since $\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{u}^{00} = \frac{\mathbf{u}_0^{00} + \mathbf{u}^{00}}{2\tau}$ and $\partial_i\mathbf{u}^{00} = \mathbf{u}_i^{00}$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\lambda}(g^{ij}-\eta^{ij}) \quad \sim \quad \mathbf{u}_{\lambda}^{ij} + \frac{2\dot{w}\eta^{ij}\delta_{\lambda}^{0}}{\tau w^{4}}(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00}-\mathbf{q}) \\ \quad + \frac{\eta^{ij}}{w^{2}}(2\mathbf{u}^{00}\delta_{\lambda}^{0} + 2\tau\mathbf{u}_{i}^{00}\delta_{\lambda}^{i} + (\mathbf{u}_{0}^{00}+\mathbf{u}^{00})\delta_{\lambda}^{0} - \mathbf{q}_{\lambda}). \end{split}$$

According to (3.50) and (3.51), we have

$$g_{ij} = \frac{(g^{ij})^*}{\det(g^{ij})} = \frac{(g^{ij})^*}{e^{\frac{3(2\tau\mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{m^2}}}.$$
(3.52)

From (3.52), we easily see

$$g_{ij} - \eta_{ij} = \frac{(g^{ij})^*}{e^{\frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{w^2}}} - (\eta^{ij})^*$$

$$= \frac{(g^{ij})^* - (\eta^{ij})^* + (\eta^{ij})^* (1 - e^{\frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{w^2}})}{e^{\frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q})}{w^2}}}$$

$$\sim \sum_{k=1}^{2} F^k(\eta, (g^{ij} - \eta^{ij})) + (\eta^{ij})^* \left(\frac{3(2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - q)}{w^2}\right).$$

In the second equality, we have used Lemma 3.5, since $(g^{ij})^* = (g^{-1}) \times (g^{-1})$.

Before we estimating $g_{0\mu} - \eta_{0\mu}$, we have to estimate d^2 , obviously, $\overline{d}^2 = 0$, thus

$$d^{2} - \overline{d}^{2} = g_{ij}g^{0i}g^{0j} - \eta_{ij}\eta^{0i}\eta^{0j} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k}(\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0i} - \eta^{0i})).$$
 (3.53)

Utilizing (3.53) and Lemma 3.5, we have

$$g_{00} - \eta_{00} = \frac{1}{g^{00} - d^2} - \frac{1}{\eta^{00} - \overline{d}^2}$$

$$= \frac{\eta^{00} - g^{00} - \overline{d}^2 + d^2}{(g^{00} - d^2)(\eta^{00} - \overline{d}^2)}$$

$$\sim \frac{-2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} + \sum_{k=1}^3 F^k(\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0i} - \eta^{0i}))}{(g^{00} - \eta^{00} + \eta^{00} - d^2)(\eta^{00} - \overline{d}^2)}$$

$$\sim \frac{-2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} + \sum_{k=1}^3 F^k(\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0i} - \eta^{0i}))}{(\eta^{00})^2}$$

and

$$g_{0i} - \eta_{0i} = \frac{g_{ij}g^{0j}}{d^2 - g^{00}} - \frac{\eta_{ij}\eta^{0j}}{\overline{d}^2 - \eta^{00}}$$

$$= \frac{g^{00}\eta_{ij}\eta^{0j} - \eta^{00}g_{ij}g^{0j} + g_{ij}g^{0i}\overline{d}^2 - \eta_{ij}\eta^{0i}d^2}{(d^2 - g^{00})(\overline{d}^2 - \eta^{00})}$$

$$\sim \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{3} F^k(\eta, \eta^{-1}, (g^{00} - \eta^{00}), (g_{ij} - \eta_{ij}), (g^{0j} - \eta^{0j}))}{(\eta^{00})^2}.$$

For the fluid variables, we have the following

$$\partial^{\tau} \Psi - \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} = \partial^{\tau} \Theta = (g^{0\nu} - \eta^{0\nu}) \partial_{\nu} \Theta + \eta^{0\nu} \partial_{\nu} \Theta = 2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} \mathbf{p}_{\nu} + \eta^{0\nu} \mathbf{p}_{\nu}.$$
$$\partial^{i} \Psi - \partial^{i} \overline{\Psi} = (g^{i\nu} - \eta^{i\nu}) \partial_{\nu} \Theta + \eta^{i\nu} \partial_{\nu} \Theta = (g^{i\nu} - \eta^{i\nu}) \mathbf{p}_{\nu} + \eta^{i\nu} \mathbf{p}_{\nu},$$

and

$$h - \overline{h} = -g_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi + \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} F^{k}(\eta, \partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}, (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}), (\partial^{\mu}\Psi - \partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi})).$$

Remark 3.9. Above lemma shows that when $\|(\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}_{\nu}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}_{\mu}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{q}_{\mu}, \mathbf{p}_{\mu})\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{3})}$ is sufficiently small, the differences between the unknowns and the background solutions are small and depend only on the unknowns and τ . Thus, for convenience of analysis, we denote the differences by

$$H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) := \{ f(\tau, \mathbf{u}) | f(\tau, 0) = 0 \}$$

with $\mathbf{u} = (\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}, \mathbf{u}^{ij}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{q}_{\mu}, \mathbf{p}_{\mu})$ and $f(\tau, \mathbf{u})$ denote smooth functions, which are regular with $\tau \in [0, 1]$.

Now, we turn to estimate the source terms, from the representation of the source terms of the Einstein equations, the most difficult part is to estimate the following two terms:

$$\frac{I - \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - (\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{I - \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - (\overline{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}$$

$$(3.54)$$

and

$$\frac{(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi}{(I-(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}}{(I-(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$
(3.55)

Based on Lemmas 3.5-3.8, we estimate (3.54)-(3.55) as follows.

Lemma 3.10. Assume that $\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)}$ is sufficiently small, we have

$$\frac{I-\frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I-(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}-\frac{I-\frac{1}{2}(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I-(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}\sim \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}H(\tau,\mathbf{u})$$

and

$$\frac{(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi}{(I-(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}}{(I-(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \sim (\tau^{3\alpha+5} + \tau^{6\alpha+8})H(\tau,\mathbf{u}).$$

Proof. From (3.29), (3.30) and $\lambda = 3\alpha + 1$, we see that $\tilde{h} = \tau^{6\alpha} h$, $\overline{\tilde{h}} = \tau^{6\alpha} \overline{h}$ and

$$\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi = \tau^{3\alpha+1}\partial^{\mu}\Psi, \quad \widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi} = \tau^{3\alpha+1}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}.$$

Then direct calculations give

$$\begin{split} &\frac{I - \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - (\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{I - \frac{1}{2}(\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}}{(I - (\overline{\widetilde{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &= &\frac{-\frac{1}{2}\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}[h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} - \overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]}{(I - (\tau^{6\alpha}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + (I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}) \\ &\times \frac{(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}} - [I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} + \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}(\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} - h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}{[(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &\sim &\frac{-\frac{1}{2}\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}[h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} - \overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}]}{(I - (\tau^{6\alpha}h)^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} + \frac{(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}(\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}} - h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})}{[(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &\sim &\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}H(\tau,\mathbf{u}). \end{split}$$

In the fifth line, we have used Lemma 3.7 with $f(x) = x^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}$ and in the last line we have used $f(x) = x^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}$ and Lemma 3.8.

For (3.55), we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\Psi\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\Psi}{(I-(\widetilde{h})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{(\widetilde{\overline{h}})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\widetilde{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\widetilde{\partial}^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}}{(I-(\widetilde{\overline{h}})^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &= \frac{\tau^{3\alpha+5}[h^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi - \overline{h}^{\frac{1-2\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}]}{(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{3\alpha+5}\overline{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}[(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}} - (I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}]}{[(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ &\sim \frac{\tau^{3\alpha+5}[h^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi - \overline{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}]}{(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & + \frac{\tau^{6\alpha+8}\overline{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}[\overline{h}^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}} - h^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}}]}{(\alpha+1)[(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}\overline{h}^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})(I-\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}h^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}})]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}} \\ & \sim & (\tau^{3\alpha+5} + \tau^{6\alpha+8})H(\tau,\mathbf{u}). \end{split}$$

In the fifth line, we have used Lemma 3.7 with $f(x) = x^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}$ and in the last line we have used Lemma 3.6 and 3.8.

Since $Q^{\mu\nu}(g,\partial g)$ is quadratic in $(\partial g^{\mu\nu})$ and analytical in $(g^{\mu\nu})$, by Lemmas 3.6 and 3.8, we easily get the following statement.

Lemma 3.11. We have

$$Q^{\mu\nu}(q,\partial q) - Q^{\mu\nu}(\eta,\partial \eta) \sim H(\tau,\mathbf{u}).$$

The other terms in $\hat{M}^{\mu\nu}$, \hat{M}^{ij} and $\hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}}$ can be easily expressed by the unknowns \mathbf{u} , we neglect the detailed analysis for those terms but give the lemma to conclude the analysis of these source terms.

Lemma 3.12. Assume that $\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)}$ is sufficiently small, then we have the following equivalent relationship.

$$\begin{split} \hat{M}^{0\mu} &\sim & 2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} \partial_{\tau}^{2} w^{2} \delta_{\mu}^{0} - \frac{4\dot{w}}{\tau} \mathbf{u}^{00} \delta_{0}^{\mu} - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau} (\mathbf{u}_{0}^{0\mu} + 3\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}) - \frac{4\dot{w}}{\tau} \mathbf{u}^{0i} \delta_{0}^{(\mu} \delta_{i}^{0}) \\ &- \frac{2\dot{w}}{\tau} \mathbf{u}^{0\mu} - 4\partial_{\tau} (w^{2} + \frac{\dot{w}}{2}) (\mathbf{u}^{0\mu} \delta_{0}^{\nu} + \mathbf{u}^{0\nu} \delta_{0}^{\mu}) \\ &+ (2\tau^{3\alpha+1} - 2\tau^{6\alpha+4}) A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) + H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) \\ &\sim & H(\tau, \mathbf{u}), \\ \hat{M}^{ij} &\sim & -\frac{\dot{w}}{\tau} \partial_{\tau} (g^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) - \frac{\dot{w}}{\tau^{2}} (g^{ij} - \eta^{ij}) \\ &+ (2\tau^{3\alpha+1} - 2\tau^{6\alpha+4}) A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{-\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}} H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) + H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) \\ &\sim & H(\tau, \mathbf{u}), \\ \hat{M}^{ij} &= & (\det(\check{g}_{ab}))^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij} \hat{M}^{lm} - g^{\kappa\lambda} \partial_{\kappa} ((\det(\check{g}_{ab}))^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{L}_{lm}^{ij}) \partial_{\lambda} (g^{lm} - \eta^{lm}) \\ &\sim & H(\tau, \mathbf{u}), \\ \hat{R}^{\mathbf{q}} &\sim & \hat{M}^{00} - \frac{w^{2}}{3} g_{pq} \hat{M}^{pq} + \frac{4w\partial_{\tau} w}{\tau} (2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}) \\ &+ g^{\kappa\lambda} (-\frac{w^{2}}{3} \partial_{\kappa} g_{pq} \partial_{\lambda} (g^{pq} - \eta^{pq}) - \frac{2w\partial_{\tau} w \delta_{0}^{\kappa}}{3} g_{pq} \partial_{\lambda} (g^{pq} - \eta^{pq}) \\ &- \frac{2w\partial_{\tau} w}{3} \delta_{0}^{\lambda} g_{pq} \partial_{\kappa} (g^{pq} - \eta^{pq})) + g^{\kappa\lambda} \left(\frac{2(\partial_{\tau} w)^{2} + 2w\partial_{\tau}^{2} w}{w^{2}} \delta_{0}^{\lambda} \delta_{0}^{\kappa} (2\tau \mathbf{u}^{00} - \mathbf{q}) \right) \\ &\sim & H(\tau, \mathbf{u}). \end{split}$$

Remark 3.13. The regularity of above source terms with respect to τ can be derived directly from Corollary 2.1.

Now what remains is to estimate the source term of the fluid equation $\hat{T} - \hat{\overline{T}}$.

Lemma 3.14. Suppose that $\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)}$ is sufficiently small, we have

$$\hat{T} - \hat{\overline{T}} \sim H(\tau, \mathbf{u}).$$

Proof. As before, this can be derived by checking the following terms

$$\Gamma^{\kappa}(g_{\kappa 0}f(\tau)) - \overline{\Gamma}^{\kappa}(\eta_{\kappa 0}f(\tau)),$$

$$\tau^{3\alpha+2}(h^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}} - \overline{h}^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}}),$$

$$B^{00}\partial_{\tau}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - \overline{B}^{00}\partial_{\tau}(\eta_{00}f(\tau)),$$

$$B^{0i}\partial_{i}(g_{00}f(\tau)) - \overline{B}^{0i}\partial_{i}(\eta_{00}f(\tau)),$$

$$B^{ij}\partial_{i}(g_{0j}f(\tau)) - \overline{B}^{ij}\partial_{i}(\eta_{0j}f(\tau)),$$

$$\frac{\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi}{h}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(g_{\kappa0}f(\tau)) - \frac{\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}}{\overline{h}}\overline{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(\eta_{\kappa0}f(\tau)),$$

$$\tau^{3(\alpha+1)}[h^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(g_{\kappa0}f(\tau)) - \overline{h}^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\partial^{\mu}\overline{\Psi}\partial^{\nu}\overline{\Psi}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}(\eta_{\kappa0}f(\tau))].$$

Above seven terms are easy to analyze based on Lemmas 3.6-3.8. We need to analyze the regularity of the following term with respect to τ

$$\partial_{\tau}(f(\tau)) = \partial_{\tau}\left(\frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}w}{(I+K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}}\right) = -\frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}\dot{w}}{\tau w(I+K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)})^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}} - \frac{(IK)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+1}}3\alpha Kw\tau^{3\alpha+2}}{(I+K\tau^{3(\alpha+1)})^{\frac{2\alpha+1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$

According to Corollary 2.1, this term is regular when $\tau \to 0$.

We conclude sections 3.2-3.4 by an important proposition.

Proposition 3.15. Under the wave coordinates $Z^{\mu} = 0$, the whole system (1.10) is equivalent to the following symmetric hyperbolic system

$$B^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\mathbf{u} = \frac{1}{\tau}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{u} + H(\tau, \mathbf{u}) [1, 0) \times \mathbb{T}^{3},$$

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}_{1} \qquad \text{in } 1 \times \mathbb{T}^{3},$$
(3.56)

where B^{μ} , **B** and **P** are defined by (3.26)-(3.28), (3.45) and satisfy the constraints of the general symmetric hyperbolic system discussed in Section 3.5.

A class of symmetric hyperbolic systems

Consider the following symmetric hyperbolic system.

$$B^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}u = \frac{1}{t}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{P}u + H \quad \text{in } [T_0, T_1] \times \mathbb{T}^n,$$

$$u = u_0 \quad \text{in } T_0 \times \mathbb{T}^n,$$

$$(3.57)$$

$$u = u_0 \qquad \text{in } T_0 \times \mathbb{T}^n, \tag{3.58}$$

where

- (i) $T_0 < T_1 \le 0$,
- (ii) **P** is a constant, symmetric projection operator, i.e., $\mathbf{P}^2 = \mathbf{P}$, $\mathbf{P}^T = \mathbf{P}$,
- (iii) u = u(t,x) and H(t,u) are \mathbb{R}^N -valued maps, $H \in C^0([T_0,0],C^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N))$ and satisfies H(t,0) =0,
- (iv) $B^{\mu} = B^{\mu}(t, u)$ and $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}(t, u)$ are $\mathbb{M}_{N \times N}$ -valued maps, and $B^{\mu}, \mathbf{B} \in C^0([T_0, 0], C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ and they satisfy

$$(B^{\mu})^T = B^{\mu}, \quad [\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{B}] = \mathbf{P}\mathbf{B} - \mathbf{B}\mathbf{P} = 0,$$

(v) there exists constants κ , γ_1 , γ_2 such that

$$\frac{1}{\gamma_1} \mathbb{I} \le B^0 \le \frac{1}{\kappa} \mathbf{B} \le \gamma_2 \mathbb{I}$$

for all $(t, u) \in [T_0, 0] \times \mathbb{R}^N$, (vi) for all $(t, u) \in [T_0, 0] \times \mathbb{R}^N$, we have

$$\mathbf{P}^{\perp}B^{0}\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}B^{0}\mathbf{P}^{\perp} = 0,$$

where $\mathbf{P}^{\perp} = \mathbb{I} - \mathbf{P}$ is the orthogonal projection operator.

We will be able to conclude our argument with the help of the following result, whose proof relies on standard energy estimates; see [15].

Proposition 3.16. Suppose that $k \geq \frac{n}{2} + 1$, $u_0 \in H^k(\mathbb{T}^n)$ and assumptions (i)-(vi) are fulfilled. Then there exists a $T_* \in (T_0, 0)$, and a unique classical solution $u \in C^1([T_0, T_*] \times \mathbb{T}^n)$ that satisfies $u \in C^0([T_0, T_*], H^k) \cap C^1([T_0, T_*], H^{k-1})$ and the energy estimate

$$||u(t)||_{H^k}^2 - \int_{T_0}^t \frac{1}{\tau} ||\mathbf{P}u||_{H^k}^2 \le Ce^{C(t-T_0)} (||u(T_0)||_{H^k}^2)$$

for all $T_0 \leq t < T_*$, where $C = C(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}([T_0,T_*),H^k)}, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \kappa)$, and can be uniquely continued to a larger time interval $[T_0,T^*)$ for all $T^* \in (T_*,0]$ provided $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}([T_0,T_*),W^{1,\infty})} < \infty$.

Moreover, there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that if $||u_0||_{H^k} \leq \delta$, then the solution exists on the time interval $[T_0, 0)$ and can be uniquely extended to $[T_0, 0]$ as an element of $C^0([T_0, 0], H^{k-1})$ satisfying

$$\|\mathbf{P}u(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\delta \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} -t & \text{if } \kappa > 1, \\ t\ln(\frac{t}{T_0}) & \text{if } \kappa = 1, \\ (-t)^k & \text{if } \kappa < 1 \end{array} \right.$$

and

$$\|\mathbf{P}^{\perp}u(\tau) - \mathbf{P}^{\perp}u(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\delta \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} -t & \text{if } \kappa \ge 1 \text{ or } [B^0, \mathbf{P}] = 0 \\ -t + (-t)^{2\kappa} & \text{if } \kappa < 1 \end{array} \right.$$

for $T_0 \leq t \leq 0$.

3.6 Completion of the proof of the main result

Based on the analysis of subsections 3.1-3.5, we have transformed the Einstein-Euler equations of GCG into a symmetric hyperbolic system (3.56). After a simple coordinate transformation $\tau \to -\tau$, the derived system is just the one considered in Section 3.5, thus we can use the main result of the Section 3.5 to get Theorems 1.2 and 1.4 directly under the assumption that the matrix $-B^0$ of subsection 3.3 is positive definite. Thus, we need to prove that $-B^0$ is positive definite based on the a priori estimates of Proposition 3.16.

Obviously, from the smallness of the unknowns of Proposition 3.16, we have the following equivalent relationships

$$h = -g_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\nu}\Psi \sim -g_{00}f^{2}(\tau) \sim \overline{h}, \qquad (3.59)$$

$$\partial^{\tau} \Psi = g^{0\mu} \partial_{\mu} \Psi \sim \partial^{\tau} \overline{\Psi} \sim f(\tau), \tag{3.60}$$

$$\partial^i \Psi = g^{i\mu} \partial_\mu \Psi \sim C\epsilon. \tag{3.61}$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} -B^{00} &\sim -(I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}\overline{h})^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}})(1 + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha})\eta^{00} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}\overline{h})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}(f(\tau))^2 > 0, \\ B^{jk} &\sim (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}h)^{\frac{1+\alpha}{2\alpha}})\left(\delta^{jk} - \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\frac{C^2\epsilon^2}{-g_{00}f^2(\tau)}\right) \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{\alpha}(\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}\overline{h})^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}}\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}C^2\epsilon^2 \sim (I - (\tau^{2(\lambda-1)}\overline{h})^{\frac{1+\alpha}{\alpha}})\delta^{jk}. \end{split}$$

Clearly, from (3.59)-(3.61) and Remarks 2.1, 2.3, $-B^0$ is a positive definite matrix. Hence, all the assumptions of Section 3.5 are satisfied. Then we have by Proposition 3.16

$$\|\mathbf{u}(\tau)\|_{H^k} \leq C\epsilon.$$

By Lemma 3.8, we can equivalently get

$$\|g^{\mu\nu}(\tau) - \eta^{\mu\nu}(\tau)\|_{H^{k+1}} + \|\partial_{\kappa}g^{\mu\nu}(\tau) - \partial_{\kappa}\eta^{\mu\nu}(\tau)\|_{H^k} + \|\partial_{\mu}\Psi(\tau) - \partial_{\mu}\overline{\Psi}(\tau)\|_{H^k} \le C\epsilon. \tag{3.62}$$

Moreover, based on (3.56), we have the following asymptotic behavior:

$$\|\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{u}_0^{0\mu}(\tau), \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu}(\tau), \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}(\tau))^T\|_{H^{k-1}} \le -C\epsilon\tau \ln(\tau),$$
 (3.63)

$$\|\Pi(\mathbf{u}_0^{ij}(\tau), \mathbf{u}_k^{ij}(\tau), \mathbf{u}^{ij}(\tau))^T, \Pi(\mathbf{u}_0(\tau), \mathbf{u}_k(\tau), \mathbf{u}(\tau))^T\|_{H^{k-1}} \leq C\epsilon\tau.$$

$$(3.64)$$

And

$$\|(\mathbb{I} - \mathbf{P})(\mathbf{u}_0^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu}, \mathbf{u}^{0\mu})^T(\tau) - (\mathbb{I} - \mathbf{P})(\mathbf{u}_0^{0\mu}(0), \mathbf{u}_i^{0\mu}(0), \mathbf{u}^{0\mu}(0))^T\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\epsilon\tau, \tag{3.65}$$

$$\|(\mathbb{I} - \Pi)(\mathbf{u}_0^{ij}, \mathbf{u}_k^{ij}, \mathbf{u}^{ij})^T(\tau) - (\mathbb{I} - \Pi)(\mathbf{u}_0^{ij}(0), \mathbf{u}_k^{ij}(0), \mathbf{u}^{ij}(0))^T\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\epsilon\tau, \tag{3.66}$$

$$\|(\mathbb{I} - \Pi)(\mathbf{u}_0, \mathbf{u}_k, \mathbf{u})^T(\tau) - (\mathbb{I} - \Pi)(\mathbf{u}_0(0), \mathbf{u}_k(0), \mathbf{u}(0))^T\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\epsilon\tau, \tag{3.67}$$

$$\|\mathbf{p}_{\mu} - \mathbf{p}_{\mu}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} \le C\epsilon\tau. \tag{3.68}$$

Where in (3.63) and (3.64), we have used $\kappa = 1$ and $\kappa = 2$ respectively. From (3.62)-(3.68), we have

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_{\tau}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) - \frac{1}{\tau}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau))\|_{H^{k-1}} + \|\partial_{i}g^{0\mu}(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq -C\epsilon\tau ln(\tau), \\ \|\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{q}(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} + \|\partial_{\tau}\mathbf{g}^{ij}(\tau)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\tau}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) - \frac{2}{\tau}(g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) + \gamma^{\mu}\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{i}\mathbf{q}(\tau) - \partial_{i}\mathbf{q}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} + \|\mathbf{q}(\tau) - \mathbf{q}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} \\ + \|\partial_{i}\mathbf{g}^{ij}(\tau) - \partial_{i}\mathbf{g}^{ij}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} + \|\mathbf{g}^{ij}(\tau) - \mathbf{g}^{ij}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\mu}\Psi(\tau) - \partial_{\mu}\Psi(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon\tau, \\ \|\partial_{\mu}\Psi(0) - \partial_{\mu}\overline{\Psi}(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon, \\ \|\partial_{i}\Psi(0)\|_{H^{k-1}} & \leq C\epsilon, \end{split}$$

where we have set

$$\gamma^{\mu} = \lim_{\tau \to 0} - \left[\partial_{\tau} (g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) - \frac{2}{\tau} (g^{0\mu}(\tau) - \eta^{0\mu}(\tau)) \right] = \lim_{\tau \to 0} (\mathbf{u}^{0\mu}(\tau) - \mathbf{u}_0^{0\mu}(\tau)).$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\rho \sim \frac{A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}} I^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}{\left(I - \tau^{3(\alpha+1)} (-\eta_{00} f^2(\tau))^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}}.$$

Thus, when $\tau \to 0$, we have $\rho \to A^{\frac{2}{\alpha+1}}$ and $p_{\rho} = \frac{\alpha A^2}{\rho^{\alpha+1}} \to \alpha$. The proof of Theorem 1.4 is completed.

Acknowledgement

This paper was written in the Fall 2015 at the Institut Henri Poincaré (IHP, Paris) during the Trimester Program "Mathematical General Relativity", which was organized by L. Andersson, S. Klainerman, and P.G. LeFloch. The authors would like to thank Chao Liu for helpful discussions on the subject of this paper. The first author (PGLF) gratefully acknowledges support from the Agence Nationale de la Recherche through grant ANR SIMI-1-003-01. The second author (CW) is grateful to the Fondation des Sciences Mathématiques de Paris (FSMP) for financial support during his stay at IHP.

References

- [1] H. B. Benaoum, Modified Chaplygin gas cosmology. Adv. High Energy Phys. (2012), 357802.
- [2] M. C. Bento, O. Bertolami and A. A. Sen, Generalized Chaplygin gas model: dark energy-dark matter unification and CMBR constraints, Gen. Relat. Grav. 35 (2003), 2063-2069.
- [3] U. Debnath, A. Banerjee and S. Chakraborty, Role of modified Chaplygin gas in accelerated universe. Classical Quantum Gravity. 21 (2004), 5609-5617.
- [4] H. Friedrich, On the existence of n-geodesically complete or future complete solutions of Einstein field equations with smooth asymptotic structure, Commun. Math. Phys. 107 (1986), 587-609.
- [5] H. Friedrich, On the global existence and asymptotic behavior of solutions to the Einstein-Maxwell-Yang-Mills equations, J. Diff. Geom. **34** (1991), 275-345.
- [6] V. Gorini, A. Kamenshchik, U. Moschella and V. Pasquier, The Chaplygin gas as a model for dark energy, arXiv: 0403062.
- [7] M. Hadžić and J. Speck, The global future stability of the FLRW solutions to the Dust-Einstein system with a positive cosmological constant, J. Hyper. Diff. Equa. 15 (2015), 87-188.
- [8] M. Heydari-Fard and H. R. Sepangi, Generalized Chaplygin gas as geometrical dark energy. Phys. Rev. D. 76 (2007), 104009.
- [9] A. Kamenshchik, U. Moschella and V. Pasquier, Chaplygin-like gas and branes in black hole bulks, Phys. Lett. B. **487** (2000), 7-13.
- [10] E. O. Kahya and B. Pourhassan, The universe dominated by the extended Chaplygin gas. Modern Phys. Lett. A. 30 (2015), 1550070.
- [11] P.G. LeFloch and Y. Ma, The nonlinear stability of Minkowski space for self-gravitating massive fields, Preprint ArXiv:1511.03324.
- [12] P.G. LeFloch and J.M. Stewart, The characteristic initial value problem for plane-symmetric spacetimes with weak regularity, Class. Quantum Grav. 28 (2011), 145019–145035.
- [13] H. Lindblad and I. Rodnianski, *The global stability of Minkowski space-time in harmonic gauge*. Ann. of Math. **171** (2010), 1401-1477.
- [14] C. Lübbe and J. A. Valiente Kroon, A conformal approach for the analysis of the nonlinear stability of radiation cosmologies, Ann. of Phys. 328 (2013), 1-25.
- [15] T. A. Oliynyk, Future stability of the FLRW Fluid solutions in the presence of a positive cosmological constant, arXiv: 1505.00857v1.
- [16] P. Pedram, and S. Jalalzadeh Quantum FRW cosmological solutions in the presence of Chaplygin gas and perfect fluid. Phys. Lett. B. 659 (2008), 6-13.
- [17] A. D. Rendall, Asymptotics of solutions of the Einstein equations with positive cosmological constant, Ann. Henri Poincaré. 5 (2004) 1041-1064.
- [18] H. Ringstöm, Future stability of the Einstein-non-linear scalar field system, Invent. Math. 173 (2008), 123-208.
- [19] I. Rodnianski and J. Speck, The nonlinear future stability of the FLRW family of solutions to the irrotational Einstein-Euler system with a positive cosmological constant, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 15 (2013), 2369-2462.

- [20] J. Speck, The nonlinear future-stability of the FLRW family of solutions to the Einstein-Euler system with a positive cosmological constant, Selecta Math. 18 (2012), 633-715.
- [21] M. Visser and C. Molina-Paris, Acoustic geometry and general relativistic barotropic irrotational fluid flow, New Jour. Phys. 12 (2010), 095014.
- $[22]\ {\rm R.\ J.\ Yang},$ $Large\mbox{-}scale\mbox{\ }structure\mbox{\ }in\mbox{\ }superfluid\mbox{\ }Chaplygin\mbox{\ }gas\mbox{\ }cosmology,$ Phys. Rev. D. ${\bf 89}\mbox{\ }(2014),$ 063014.
- [23] A. Zenginoğlu, Hyperboloidal evolution with the Einstein equations, Class. Quant. Grav. 25 (2008), 195025.